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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REVIEW

SUMMARY


CIMA generated a financial deficit of £1.9m in 2015
excluding charitable trusts and tax (£1.8m surplus in 2014)
which comprised the following elements:
Operating surplus excluding
projects
Strategic Projects
Corporate centre
relocation net income
Operating (deficit)/surplus
before charities per the
consolidated statement
of comprehensive income

2015

2014

–

£3.4m

(£1.9m)
–

(£1.9m)

(£2.3m)
£0.7m

£1.8m



Whilst income was below expectation, the cost base was
managed to achieve a broadly on plan operational result.



The main strategic project was the joint venture
evolution with the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (see below). Also included is the
cost of completing the launch of the Global Management
Accounting Principles© (‘the Principles’), and the
move of our corporate centre to the Helicon building
in the City of London.

INCOME


CIMA’s financial strategic key performance indicator
is total income and in 2015 we generated £54.2m,
which is 13% lower than 2014.



In 2015 we introduced the new exam platform for
the professional syllabus, moving all our exams online,
through a partnership with Pearson VUE. We anticipated
a reduction in exam participation, however not to the
level experienced. This led to a decrease in exam income
by 40% to £12.5m.



Student and member subscriptions increased to
£34.7m, a 3% increase over 2014, despite the dip in
the student population.





Other income decreased by 16% to £6.5m and primarily
reflects one-off income CIMA received from the landlords
of its former corporate centre as compensation for the
lease ending early.
In 2016 we are planning for income to increase by
8% to £58.6m.

EXPENDITURE


Where possible expenditure is allocated directly against
the value chain and outputs generated. Details of this
can be found in the following value chain commentary.



Value chain support services are for the most part an
apportionment of overheads, such as human resource,
information technology, finance and rent.



Total expenditure decreased by 9% to £56.0m, which
includes £1.2m on the joint venture evolution programme
(see below), £0.3m completing the relocation of our
corporate centre to the Helicon in the City of London,
and £0.1m completing the launch of the Principles.

ACQUIRE
CIMA acquired 30,023 new students in 2015, which was a
15% reduction on 2014 and 19% below the annual target.
New student acquisition was lower than 2014 in all of our
regions and every region except Southeast Asia failed to
achieve its target.
The markets that had particular challenges in 2015 were
India, which fell by 42% against 2014, and Middle East,
Southeast Asia and North Africa (MESANA) which fell by
30%. Despite the disappointing results at the regional level
there were some success stories such as Nigeria, Singapore,
Myanmar and Ireland which not only exceeded 2014
acquisition but also exceeded 2015 targets. The ‘Chief
Financial Officer accelerated entry programme’, a package of
registration, exams and learning support, specifically tailored
for the China market, has also been successful at generating
significant revenues.
There are three main reasons for the acquisition challenges
that CIMA has faced in 2015. Firstly the launch of the revised
syllabus and new assessment platform has had a profound
impact on CIMA’s business model. Under the previous exam
platform professional level examinations were at fixed
sessions four times a year, with the main diets in May and
November. This led to natural spikes in acquisition activity
with January, July and December being particularly strong
months. With the new exam platform Objective Tests can be
taken at any time of the year and can be booked on demand.
This has resulted in changes in student behaviour where they
can register last minute after they have studied and are more
confident about passing an exam.
Secondly in some markets we have faced strong price
competition from our competitors; this has been particularly
evident in our Africa and Asia markets.
And lastly the continued strength of sterling against some
of our market’s currencies, again in Africa and Asia, has led to
CIMA being relatively expensive in those markets which has
impacted on acquisition. In order to tackle the last two issues
CIMA has implemented targeted pricing campaigns in some
markets, whilst maintaining a value driven approach.
Investment in Acquire activities decreased by 2% to
£10.4m and represents 19% of total operational expenditure.
Expenditure on our gateway programmes has increased,
specifically on the Chinese Chief Financial Officer accelerated
entry programme, which is supporting the higher demand for
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the product. In our main activity areas, employers and
higher education, investment has decreased, a product of
us having to control our cost base due to the reduction in
exam revenue.
Looking to the year ahead CIMA will focus its activities
on maximising our differentiation and the value of our
qualification compared to our competitors. We plan to drive
global student acquisition to 35,300 by supporting regional
programmes of activity including regional launches of the
revised Certificate in Business Accounting qualification.
An important step for CIMA in 2015 was the mid-year launch
of the Global Business Services qualification in partnership
with the Hackett Group. Much of the activity in 2015 with
Hackett revolved around planning out the product and sales
strategy for the qualification. The Global Business Services
qualification has the potential to generate significant
volumes and revenue for CIMA in the future and so it will be
important in 2016 to work closely with Hackett to promote
the benefits of the qualification to businesses around the
world that have large numbers of employees engaged in
business services activity.

DEEPEN
The driver of our strategic key performance indicator of
population growth is the admittance of new members.
In 2015 CIMA admitted 4,831 new members. This was
ahead of our target by 3%, but as expected down on 2014.
We were expecting new member admissions to slow down
this year with the launch of the revised syllabus, either
because students had accelerated their study to complete
exams before the new platform came into effect, or deferring
until the impact could be better understood.
In recent years investment in Deepen activities had been
increasing, however this year expenditure in this area has
decreased by 18% to £12.9m. Investment in student and
tuition support activities has increased in order to support
the introduction of the revised syllabus and exam platform
and build confidence amongst the student population for
the important changes we have introduced.
Where expenditure has decreased significantly is in exam
delivery, and the reasons are twofold related to the new
assessment platform. Previously CIMA managed most of
the exam process in-house, however from 2015 much of
that activity is now managed by Pearson VUE and therefore
a significant amount of expenditure managed directly by
CIMA has now shifted to be included in the charges that
Pearson VUE make for each test. Coupled with that the
volume of tests taken in 2015 has been 90,000 less than in
the previous year and therefore the total cost of delivering
tests has been lower.
CIMA has spent a considerable amount of 2015
understanding how students and tuition partners are
reacting to the new assessment platform and whilst pass
rates for the new tests are very positive the participation is

lower than where we want it to be; therefore the biggest
focus for 2016 will be in improving exam participation,
through a differentiated student progression programme.
This will include exam scheduling campaigns, promotion
of global tuition options and the global learning scheme,
study support and resources promotion.
CIMAconnect was launched at the end of 2014 as the
platform for student support and therefore during this year
we have continued to promote the benefits of using the tool.
Of the 40% of registered students, 61% are active on
CIMAconnect, which is 11% ahead of target. CIMA will
continue to focus on this important student support tool to
ensure that it is delivering what students need to progress
and understand how CIMA students learn.

RETAIN
The CIMA member population passed the 100,000 mark
during 2015 growing to 102,942, an increase of 3% on 2014.
The 100,000th member is from Sri Lanka and the milestone
was acknowledged during the 50th anniversary celebrations
of CIMA’s involvement in Sri Lanka. The member population
target for 2015 was not achieved; however, this was due to
higher than expected member lapsing which was reflected in
a drop in member satisfaction. The challenge for 2016 will be
to ensure we are supporting and delighting our members and
promote the relevance of CIMA for their careers to ensure
they stay with us.
The number of Chartered Global Management Accountants
(CGMAs) at the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ended 2015 at 51,046 reflecting the important
work that the joint venture is doing in promoting
management accounting. In 2016 we will continue to evolve
our joint venture relationship with the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in order to create an even
stronger accounting association that is more influential than
ever amongst our stakeholders.
The investment in retain activities declined to £8.6m, a
reduction of 4% on the previous year. Despite this reduction
we continue to demonstrate our commitment to providing
our members with the support and relevance they need to
thrive in their careers. At the start of 2015 in association with
the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants we
launched the Competency and Learning Tool, to support
Chartered Global Management Accountants with their
continuing professional development.
In 2016 we must continue to drive member value,
engagement and affinity to support the joint venture
evolution, through the member value proposition,
promotion of the Competency and Learning Tool
and Continuous Professional Development resources.
The combined population of CGMAs and students now
stands at just short of 280,000, and in 2016 we will target
an increase of that population by 3% to over 286,000.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REVIEW continued

FULFIL
We measure success in this part of the value chain
through surveying our members, students and employer
stakeholders. After a strong member survey result in 2014,
member satisfaction fell to 74%, adrift of the 82% target
and lower than last year. Members continue to recognise
the value CIMA brings to their careers and future prospects
however it is customer service which is causing the low
satisfaction rating.
CIMA has gone through a period of considerable change in
the last couple of years including investing in the revised
syllabus and new assessment platform, developing the
Principles, moving its corporate centre to the Helicon and
improving the tools we provide to members and students as
well as many other activities. These are all aimed at providing
the best support to our members and students and together
with improving the basics of our customer service experience
we are confident that improvements in satisfaction will be
forthcoming in 2016 and beyond.
Investment in Fulfil activities decreased by 11% to £6.5m in
2015 which reflects the tail end of the change programme
we had embarked on in recent years as well as the drive to
reduce discretionary activity because of the exam income
impact. We will continue to invest in our support systems
in 2016 in order to benefit our stakeholders and better
understand their needs, most notably through a refreshed
website and through a new cloud based finance system.

REPUTATION AND RESEARCH
CIMA’s Reputation and Research activity supports the whole
of the value chain, continually raising the profile of CIMA and
creating demand for management accountants, as well as
enhancing the profile of our students and members across
the world.
The Principles, which were launched at the end of 2014,
continued to be promoted with a number of other
products being developed during the year to support them.
A microsite has been developed as the go-to place for the
Principles, a diagnostic tool, which will be launched in
2016, is being built to help organisations assess how their
management accounting functions perform against the
Principles, and CIMA has been working with the British
Standards Institute to transform the Principles into a globally
recognised standard, again launching in 2016 as PAS1919.
Other notable activity to raise CIMA’s profile in 2015 has
been the creation of the External Affairs team which will
be focused on CIMA’s advocacy strategy, launching the
“Managing Responsible Business” report, and sponsoring an
exciting academic research programme aimed at promoting
the science of management accounting through CIMA’s
funding of the General Charitable Trust. CIMA has also
worked with a number of partners to raise the benefits
of management accounting such as Churchill and the
International Integrated Reporting Council.

Investment in Reputation and Research activity decreased by
5% to £17.5m reflecting the drive for CIMA to reduce some
of its discretionary activity due to the exam income impact.

JOINT VENTURE EVOLUTION
In March 2015 the Council approved the development of our
joint venture evolution programme. This involves working
with legal and constitutional advisors to create a framework
for a proposed Association. CIMA’s existing joint venture
with the AICPA helps us work together to deliver and support
the CGMA designation; the Association will be a new legal
entity, and represents the next steps of our relationship.
In July 2015 the Council approved a programme of
engagement with members on this proposal, with a
total cost over 2015 and 2016 of £4.75m. During 2016
this engagement process will continue, and should the
membership bodies of CIMA and the AICPA approve the
joint venture evolution proposals, further investment will
be made in integrating the strategy, management and
operations of the two organisations.

BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVES
As identified throughout our Integrated Report 2015,
this has been a year of significant investment. We had
planned for this investment and built up cash and reserves
over several years to fund it. Fixed assets (property, plant
and equipment and intangibles) have risen from £6.2m to
£11.9m, whilst cash and cash equivalents have fallen from
£22.2m to £12.8m. This took us below our target level of
liquid reserves, however we have allowed for this in our
long term planning; the investments are planned to
accelerate growth going forward and we expect to build
reserves back to the target level in three to five years.

PENSION SCHEME
CIMA operates a defined benefit pension scheme, which
has been closed to future accrual since 2012. The scheme
is in deficit, and CIMA makes contributions of around
£1m per year with the intention of reducing that deficit to
zero by 2023. As can be seen in the notes to these financial
statements, the deficit has fallen by £2.9m in the year,
driven by changes to estimates of bond yields.
JOHN WINDLE FCMA, CGMA
Chief Financial and Operating Officer
18 March 2016
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PRIMARY KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
2016
Budget

Total CGMA and student population*
Number of new members
Number of new students
Total revenue (£k)
Staff voluntary retention rate
Employer satisfaction rate
Member satisfaction rate
Number of corporates using GMAPs

286,199
4,400
35,300
58,596
87%
70%
77%

2015
Budget

2014
Actual

279,137
289,317
4,831
4,686
30,023
37,000
54,161
62,557
84%
87%
62%
75%
74%
82%
Not measured yet

271,353
5,548
35,512
62,324
88%
71%
81%

2015
Actual

* The CGMA and student populations include CPA CGMAs measured as at 31 July 2015. They represent the number of AICPA members who have
made an annual financial commitment to the CGMA designation.

The KPIs referred to in the above table have been compiled in a consistent manner to previous years and represent the
primary measurements used by management throughout the year. Developing on our desire for best practice integrated
reporting we are working with our external auditors on the introduction of a new KPI assurance process for a selection of
these KPIs in 2016 in accordance with ISAE3000.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

THE UK CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE
CIMA is committed to reaching and maintaining the highest
standards of corporate governance and in so doing supports
the UK Corporate Governance Code, which is published by
the Financial Reporting Council. The code is principally for
listed companies, and as such, CIMA is not obliged or in some
respects able to follow it completely. However, the Council is
committed to adopting best practice governance processes
and therefore chooses to apply the code to CIMA’s
operations as far as it is applicable and appropriate for a
professional body incorporated by Royal Charter. This
report aims to evidence how the Council has adopted
and supported the Codes principles in the interests of
best practice.

THE COUNCIL
The governance, overall oversight and control of the Institute
is the responsibility of the Council, which is composed of up
to 58 members (the actual number as at the end of the 2015
year was 55 – see the end of these statements for a full list
of members during the year). The Council is responsible for
setting strategy and policy in line with the objectives of
CIMA’s Royal Charter, and for representing the interests
of, and reporting to, the general membership. It determines
and reviews CIMA’s strategic objectives, goals, and mission,
approves any changes to the regulations, and is the ultimate
authority within the organisation. All members of the
Council are equally responsible for ensuring that the best
interests of the general membership are considered in the
decision making process.
The Council is led by a team of Honorary Officers comprising
the President, the Deputy President, the Vice President and
the Immediate Past President. Those incumbent in these
roles during the 2015 calendar year are detailed at the end
of these statements.
In addition to the Honorary Officers, the breakdown of
membership of the Council consists of, elected fellows
(up to 38), co-opted fellows (not exceeding one-third of
the number of elected members) and up to four other
persons as the Council may think fit. Upon appointment all
new members of the Council are provided with an electronic
information pack and invited to attend an induction day
designed to provide closer understanding of CIMA’s
operations and strategy, and the way in which the Council
meetings are conducted. In addition, all members of the
Council are given the opportunity to attend a governance
workshop and periodic sessions on chairing effective
meetings. Members of the Council may not be remunerated
for their work for CIMA, except as permitted by the Royal
Charter, Byelaws and Regulations. A register of council
members’ interests is maintained, which details any personal
or business interests which could give rise to a conflict of
interest between CIMA and other bodies.

The current President, Myriam Madden, was elected by the
membership at the 2015 AGM, on the recommendation of
the Council. She will be the honorary leader of CIMA for one
year, during which time she acts as Chairman of the Council
and Executive Committee, and represents the interests of
CIMA externally, including to Government, public, the
accounting profession, regulatory bodies, and the media.
The President, together with the team of other honorary
officers, provides strategic direction to the Council in its
deliberations and is responsible for ensuring the democratic
process of the Council and the management of the meetings.
The Council met five times in 2015 and held its annual
strategy session in July. In addition all Council members
were invited to attend an informal two day workshop in
September, which focussed on the current joint venture
evolution programme.
The chief executive is the most senior staff member
of CIMA and is responsible for proposing, advising on and
implementing the strategy as agreed by the Council and is
ultimately responsible for the profile of CIMA. The managing
director reports to the chief executive and is responsible
for overseeing CIMA’s day-to-day operations. The chief
executive and the executive director governance and
professional standards are the prime source of operational
and governance information and advice for the Council
and committee members and, with the assistance of the
Corporate Affairs department, are responsible for ensuring
that adequate and timely information is available to allow
them to prepare for each meeting.
The Council delegates activities in line with an annually
updated scheme of delegations to the appropriate
committees, the chief executive, and the Senior
Management Team (SMT). The Council has responsibility
for establishing, regulating and dissolving boards and
committees, setting the terms of reference of the policy
and governance committees, and for reviewing their
performance. The Council also retains the authority to
establish, regulate and/or dissolve the Regional Boards,
Areas and Branches of the Institute.
In order to ensure the Council is meeting its obligations
in respect of ensuring the best interests of members are
considered, all members of CIMA are entitled to attend
the AGM, to vote in person or by proxy on matters
required to be referred to the membership, and are invited
to complete regular satisfaction surveys to ensure their
opinions are heard.

REPORTING RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE
COUNCIL
The Council is responsible for the control and management
of the funds and financial activities of the Institute.
The Byelaws of CIMA require the Council to ensure that
financial statements are prepared for each financial year
which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs and of
its surplus or deficit for that period. In preparing those
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financial statements, the Council, in accordance with
best practice, is required to:


select suitable accounting policies and then apply
them consistently;



make judgements and estimates that are reasonable
and prudent;



state whether applicable accounting standards have
been followed, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements;



ensure that the financial statements are prepared on
the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to
presume that CIMA will continue in business; and



provide the external auditor with all information
required in order for them to complete the audit.

Proper books of account are maintained by the direction
of the Council, as required by the Byelaws of CIMA. These
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of CIMA. The financial statements are prepared on
a going concern basis as the Council is satisfied that there is a
reasonable expectation that there are adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.
The Council is not aware of any relevant information that
has not been disclosed to the external auditor. The Council
is responsible for ensuring the maintenance and integrity
of the financial information included on CIMA’s website.
Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation
and dissemination of financial statements may differ from
legislation in other jurisdictions.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
The Executive Committee, on behalf of the Council,
coordinates the activities of the committees reporting
to the Council and monitors the development and
implementation of strategy, including the thorough
review of risk and mitigation on systems and controls.
It also has oversight of brand, communications, marketing
and external relations to deliver CIMA’s strategic objectives
of Relevance and Impact (see our Integrated Report 2015
for more details). The Committee currently consists of the
President, who chairs the meetings, all Honorary Officers,
the chairpersons of the Council delegated committees,
the chief executive and other elected members of
the Council.
During the year, the Committee met six times and has
adhered to its Terms of Reference in the consideration
and development of the following matters on behalf of
the Council:


Oversight and challenge of the key activities undertaken
by all committees established and delegated by the
Council and maintaining focus on strategic areas to
ensure the long term success of CIMA;



CIMA and Hackett collaboration on the Global Business
Services Certificate;



Review and upgrade of the CIMA Global website;



Review and approval of the funding of the new Enterprise
Resource Planning Implementation system (ERP) to
meet the increasing business requirements efficiently
and establish consistently high quality and high
performance solutions across CIMA;



The review of CIMA’s global risk register in relation to
monitoring, managing and reducing the impact of risk
occurrences, assessing the scope of likely risk events
and ensuring future “horizon” risks are captured;



Provision of insight into the stakeholders satisfaction
survey results;



Review into CIMA’s Certificate in Business Accounting
and approval of funding to develop and launch the
new product;



Review of CIMA’s brand assets, framework and
guidelines and media spokespeople policy;



Overview of progress made with the AICPA joint
venture and monitoring its business case and budget;



Reviewing the parameters used for setting member
and student fees for 2017 to meet CIMA’s strategy,
focused on sustained membership growth, global and
product expansion;



Review of CIMA’s reserves policy to ensure it remains fit
for purpose to meet financial obligations as they fall due;



Review of CIMA’s Business Plan 2016 and Strategic
Plan 2025.

APPOINTMENTS COMMITTEE
The Appointments Committee is one of CIMA’s two
governance committees which meets a minimum of four
times a year and as and when necessary. The Committee
met four times during the year (see the back of this report
for a list of members during the year).
It is responsible for overseeing the selection and recruitment
of members/individuals to serve on CIMA’s committees.
It appoints the Chairmen, Vice Chairmen and members of
the Conduct Committees in accordance with the laws of the
Institute. Its decisions and nominations are made against the
background of the Royal Charter, Byelaws and Regulations,
CIMA Strategy, and the legal and procedural framework
which govern the functions of this Committee. It has
delegated authority and responsibility for coordinating the
arrangements for all the elections, including elections to the
Council, selection of the next Vice Presidential candidate,
policy committee chairmen, and ‘without portfolio’
members of the Executive and Appointments Committees.
It also has delegated authority from the Council to appoint
chairmen and members to CIMA’s delegated committees,

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT continued

and members to represent the Institute on other nonInstitute bodies or organisations. As a part of its delegated
responsibility, it also approves nominations for the Institute
medals and other awards.
The Appointments Committee has responsibility for
executive appointments as required under its Terms
of Reference together with consideration of succession,
pension benefits and other human resource issues for
the senior management of the Institute. As a part of this
responsibility, the Committee approves senior management
appointments and remuneration packages, and in doing so it
will consider the remuneration of staff at similar levels in
comparable organisations, and the relative remuneration of
other CIMA staff, whilst avoiding excessive costs. It will also
ensure that performance related pay forms an appropriate
portion of total remuneration and monitor the performance
of its appointees against predefined criteria, with specific
reference to performance related pay. The Appointments
Committee also oversees and approves remuneration levels,
welfare arrangements and non-salary benefits relating to
pensions, supplementation of pensions, health and other
insurance cover for all staff.
The Appointments Committee ensures that any payments
to Council members for services to CIMA are in accordance
with the Byelaws.

CHARITABLE TRUSTS AND OTHER FUNDS

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
CIMA takes its role in bringing ethics to the forefront of
business thinking seriously. All students are issued with the
CIMA code of ethics on commencement of their training and
are examined in ethical decision making. The code is based
on international standards and defines the core principles
which a Chartered Management Accountant must uphold:
integrity, objectivity, professional competence and due care,
confidentiality and professional behaviour. Practical guidance
on identifying and resolving ethical conflicts is provided
through dedicated resources and helplines. CIMA is also
committed to promoting to members their wider duty of
care to the public interest, beyond their employer or client,
as set out in the code of ethics.
As an Investor in People CIMA also strongly recognises
the importance of its own employees, and the link
between satisfied staff and satisfied stakeholders.
To this end, it has implemented extensive health and
safety, employee satisfaction, learning and development,
and performance appraisal programmes. Vacancies are
filled from within CIMA wherever possible.
MYRIAM MADDEN FCMA, CGMA
President
18 March 2016

The Benevolent Fund is a registered charity, created to
provide assistance to members and ex-members, and their
families, in times of hardship. The fund is administered by
a committee of three members of the Council and four
long standing members of CIMA (see the back of this report
for a list of members during the year), on behalf of CIMA,
the sole trustee.
The Anthony Howitt Lecture Trust is also a registered charity
created to advance education in accounting and related
subjects. This takes the form of a lecture, normally every
other year, by eminent speakers on matters of interest to
accountants and other leading members of the business
world. The trust receives income from funds originally
gifted from the founder, Anthony Howitt. The trustees
are all current office holders of CIMA.
The General Charitable Trust is a registered charity and was
formed for the advancement of education in the subjects
of accounting, management accounting, electronic data
processing, costing, auditing, taxation, applied economics,
finance and other related subjects of an educational nature.
A deed of variation was approved on 30 July 2010 which
provides that the power to appoint new trustees is vested
in the existing trustees. The trust is an independent body
with arm’s length relationship with CIMA.
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THE AUDIT AND RISK PROCESS COMMITTEE

COMMITTEE MEMBERS
Gordon Grant chairs the Audit and Risk Process Committee
(the ‘Committee’). Mr Grant is a Fellow and a Past President
of CIMA and is currently Finance Director of DEM Solutions.
The Council therefore considers that he has relevant financial
experience. The remaining Committee members who
have served throughout the period are George Glass (vice
chairman), Jason Boxer, Mark Lewis (until November 2015),
Ian Kleinman, and Tom O’Connor all of whom are Fellows
of CIMA and each has extensive business experience.
Whilst only members of the Committee are entitled to
attend meetings, the Vice President, chief executive, chief
financial and operating officer, managing director, and the
secretary to the Committee, together with representatives
of the external and internal auditors are normally invited
to each meeting, together with advisers and others with
appropriate experience, as and when required at the
request of the Committee Chairman.

THE ROLE OF THE COMMITTEE
The Committee exists to review, and challenge
where necessary, the actions and underlying opinions
and judgements of CIMA management and employees,
in relation to the audited annual financial statements and
annual report of CIMA (and interim statements and reports
where appropriate) together with its various regional boards,
charities, trusts, pension and benevolent funds, and the draft
annual accounts of CIMA subsidiaries. All such considerations
are made before recommending such reports and
statements where applicable to the Council for
endorsement and approval.
The Committee met on three occasions during 2015;
during these meetings it held three closed sessions with
the internal auditors and one with the outgoing external
auditor, with management present.
The minutes of the Committee are circulated to all
members of the Council and the Chairman attends the
Council meeting at which the annual accounts of CIMA are
approved to give him the opportunity to comment on any
matters pertaining to the annual accounts, the underlying
judgements and other matters of material relevance that
have been discussed at the Committee during the
preceding year.

DURING THE YEAR THE FOLLOWING ITEMS
WERE REVIEWED:


Financial statements and annual report and accounts



All internal and external audit reports



Risk Management



Compliance with Bribery Act



Whistleblowing arrangements and compliance.
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Additionally the Committee takes an active interest in
audit committee best practice and discusses key industry
priorities at its meetings. Members are encouraged to
attend appropriate development opportunities. In 2015 they
undertook a formal self-evaluation exercise and undertook
informal self-evaluation at the conclusion of each
Committee meeting.

EXTERNAL AUDIT
PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) was appointed as CIMA’s
external auditor in June 2015 following a tender process
approved by the Committee. A sub-group was appointed
by the Committee in 2014 to oversee the review, evaluate
the proposals, short list and interview the candidates and
make a recommendation to the Council. In December 2014,
the Council approved the Committee’s recommendation.
The contract with PwC has a maximum length of seven
years, subject to satisfactory performance and annual review,
when it will again be formally re-tendered.
The Committee ensures that the external auditor
remains independent of CIMA in all material aspects
and that they have adequate resources available to them
to enable the delivery of their audit objective to the
membership. The Committee reviews the overall
performance of the auditors annually and is responsible for
making formal recommendations each year to the Council
on the continuation of the external auditors in office.
The Committee is satisfied with PwC’s effectiveness
and independence and is recommending them for
reappointment at the 2016 AGM.
The external auditors are required to rotate the audit partner
responsible for CIMA audits in accordance with Financial
Reporting Council (FRC) guidance. This is the first year under
the current lead partner. The Committee also reviews the
level and nature of any non-audit work to be performed
during the year and considers whether it is appropriate
for this work to be carried out by the external auditors.
The Committee maintains a policy regarding acceptable
non-audit work, which incorporates authority levels for
approving such work. The auditors are precluded from
engaging in non-audit services that would compromise
their independence and objectivity or violate any laws or
regulations affecting their appointment as auditors.
£208k was incurred on non-audit services during the year.
Of this £189k was paid to PwC for support in a range of
areas, in particular international employment legal advice,
and due diligence around the potential joint venture
evolution. The remaining fees were paid to Chantrey
Vellacott DFK to close off some ongoing tax advice.

THE AUDIT AND RISK PROCESS COMMITTEE continued

INTERNAL AUDIT
Representatives from CIMA’s internal auditor, Grant
Thornton, are invited to attend each Committee meeting
where assurance is provided that internal control activities,
which have been subject to audit, are operating effectively.
The internal audit programme is based upon the risk register,
in combination with discussion between senior management
and the Committee.
The following areas have been subject to an internal audit
in the period:


Relationship with key partners



Key financial controls – Malaysia



Supporting regional delivery



IT relocation



ERP system implementation – First gateway review



ERP system implementation – Second gateway review



Availability of key systems.

The risk approach in CIMA is based on that recommended
by the Institute of Risk Management. The risk management
procedures are designed to identify and manage those risks
that could adversely impact the achievement of CIMA’s
objectives. Whilst they do not provide absolute assurance
against material misstatements or loss, the Council is of
the opinion that proper systems of risk management and
internal control are in place within CIMA.
GORDON GRANT FCMA, CGMA
Chairman of the Audit and Risk Process Committee
18 March 2016

The Committee has received reports on the work carried
out by internal audit and the results of their investigations
including management responses and timelines. If any such
recommendations, in the opinion of the Committee, are
unreasonably rejected or delayed by management then
these would be reported to the Council. No such report
was necessary in 2015.

RISK MANAGEMENT
The Council has overall responsibility for determining
risk management policy, and SMT has responsibility for
designing, implementing and maintaining systems
consistent with this policy.
The Executive Committee actively reviews the risk register
twice a year. Furthermore SMT regularly monitors CIMA’s
performance against past and budgeted financial and nonfinancial criteria. Budgets are prepared annually; full
reforecasts are done at least twice a year, and targeted
reforecasts may be done more frequently as determined by
performance or market conditions. Management accounts
are prepared every month, so that financial risks can be
identified early and the appropriate action taken.
Following a review of the risk framework and processes in
2014, opportunities for improvement were identified and
have been designed and tested in 2015. The Committee
has received regular updates as the project has developed
and is fully supportive of the approach. The improvements
will be implemented globally during 2016 supported by the
introduction of risk software technology to enable these
improvements to become business as usual without a
corresponding increase in resources.
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THE CHARTERED INSTITUTE OF MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTANTS

REPORT ON THE GROUP FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
Our opinion
In our opinion, The Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants (CIMA’s) group financial statements
(the “financial statements”):
−

give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s
affairs as at 31 December 2015 and of its loss and
cash flows for the year then ended; and

−

have been properly prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
as adopted by the European Union.

What we have audited

Royal Charter and bye-laws in accordance with our engagement
letter dated 20 October 2015 and for no other purpose.
We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume
responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to
whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come
save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

What an audit of financial statements involves
We conducted our audit in accordance with ISAs (UK &
Ireland). An audit involves obtaining evidence about the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements
sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial
statements are free from material misstatement, whether
caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of:
−

whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the
group’s circumstances and have been consistently applied
and adequately disclosed;

−

the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates
made by the Council; and

−

the overall presentation of the financial statements.

The financial statements comprise:
−

the Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2015;

−

the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year then ended;

−

the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the year
then ended;

−

the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Funds for
the year then ended; and

−

the notes to the financial statements, which include a
summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied
in the preparation of the financial statements is IFRSs as
adopted by the European Union.
In applying the financial reporting framework, the Council
have made a number of subjective judgements, for example
in respect of significant accounting estimates. In making such
estimates, they have made assumptions and considered
future events.

RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND THE AUDIT

We primarily focus our work in these areas by assessing
the Council’s judgements against available evidence,
forming our own judgements, and evaluating the disclosures
in the financial statements.
We test and examine information, using sampling and other
auditing techniques, to the extent we consider necessary
to provide a reasonable basis for us to draw conclusions.
We obtain audit evidence through testing the effectiveness
of controls, substantive procedures or a combination of both.
In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial
information in the financial statements and linked Integrated
Report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited
financial statements and to identify any information that is
apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially
inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the
course of performing the audit. If we become aware of
any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies
we consider the implications for our report.

Our responsibilities and those of the Council
As explained more fully in the Reporting responsibilities of
the Council set out on page 6, the Council are responsible
for the preparation of the financial statements and for being
satisfied that they give a true and fair view.
Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (“ISAs
(UK & Ireland)”). Those standards require us to comply with
the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for
and only for management’s purposes to assist the Council
to discharge their stewardship obligations and fiduciary
responsibilities in respect of CIMA under the terms of the

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants
London
31 March 2016
(a) The maintenance and integrity of The Chartered Institute of
Management Accountants (CIMA) website is the responsibility
of the Council; the work carried out by the auditors does not involve
consideration of these matters and, accordingly, the auditors accept
no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the
financial statements since they were initially presented on the website.
(b) Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation
in other jurisdictions.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year ended 31 December 2015

Note

Income

2a

Acquire
Deepen
Retain
Fulfil
Reputation and research
Expenditure

2b
2c
2d
2e
2f

Corporate centre relocation net income
Operating (deficit)/surplus before charities

£000

2015
£000

£000

54,161
(10,435)
(12,901)
(8,613)
(6,522)
(17,545)

2014
reclassified*
£000

62,324
(10,656)
(15,761)
(8,997)
(7,308)
(18,543)

(56,016)

(61,265)

2g


(1,855)

705
1,764

(Expense)/income from charitable trusts and other funds
Total operating (deficit)/surplus

2h

(28)
(1,883)

11
1,775

Taxation

4a

(Deficit)/surplus for the year
Other comprehensive income
Items which will not be reclassified to net income:
Actuarial gain/(loss) on pension scheme
Items which may be reclassified to net income:
Decrease in foreign currency translation reserve
Realised gain on investment disposal
Unrealised gain on investment revaluation
Total other comprehensive income/(expense)

13b

Total comprehensive income/(expense)
* See Note 1a, Basis of preparation

Results for the year are all derived from continuing operations.
The notes on pages 16 to 42 form part of these financial statements.
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(72)

(1,876)

1,703

2,414

(3,905)

(275)
(254)
287
2,172

(1,202)
(258)
228
(5,137)

296

(3,434)
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

As at 31 December 2015

2015
£000

2014
reclassified*
£000

5
6
7
8

6,873
5,033
5,619

17,525

2,610
3,583
6,122

12,315

9a
9b
9c

4,696
12,815
2,093
19,604

3,383
22,197
3,019
28,599

37,129

40,914

Note

Non current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Interest in other investments
Interest in joint venture
Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Interest in other investments

Total assets
Funds
Accumulated fund
Fair value reserves
Foreign currency translation reserve
Charitable trusts and other funds

4,958
2,348
(2,828)
2,426
6,904

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Subscriptions and fees received in advance
Non current liabilities
Provisions
Pension scheme liability
Other retirement obligations

Total funds and liabilities

4,392
2,224
(2,553)
2,545
6,608

10
11
12

4,932
349
12,969
18,250

5,583
1,752
12,187
19,522

11
13a
13h

439
11,439
97
11,975

411
14,290
83
14,784

37,129

40,914

* See Note 1a, Basis of preparation

The financial statements on pages 12 to 42 were approved by the Council on 18 March 2016, and signed on its behalf by:

MYRIAM MADDEN FCMA, CGMA
President

ANDREW MISKIN FCMA, CGMA
Deputy President

JOHN WINDLE FCMA, CGMA
Chief Financial and
Operating Officer

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FUNDS

Year ended 31 December 2015

Accumulated
funds
£000
Note

Fair value
reserves
£000

6,605

2,260

1,692



Balance at 31 December 2013
Changes in funds for 2014
Surplus for the year
Other comprehensive income:
Realised loss on investment disposal
Unrealised gain on
investment revaluation
Actuarial loss on pension scheme
Foreign exchange loss on translation
Total comprehensive income


7,9c
13b

Balance at 31 December 2014
Changes in funds for 2015
Deficit for the year
Other comprehensive income:
Realised loss on investment disposal
Unrealised gain/(loss) on
investment revaluation
Actuarial gain on pension scheme
Foreign exchange loss on translation
Total comprehensive income
Balance at 31 December 2015


(3,905)

(2,213)
4,392

(258)
222


(36)
2,224



(1,848)

7,9c
13b

(254)

Foreign
currency
translation
reserve
£000

(1,351)




Group total
£000

7,514

2,528

10,042

1,692

11

1,703



(258)



(1,202)
(1,202)

222
(3,905)
(1,202)
(3,451)

6


17

228
(3,905)
(1,202)
(3,434)

(2,553)

4,063



(1,848)



(254)

378


124



(275)
(275)

4,958

2,348

(2,828)
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Charitable
trusts and
other funds
£000

(258)


2,414

566

The notes on pages 16 to 42 form part of these financial statements.

Total
before
charities
£000

378
2,414
(275)
415
4,478

2,545

6,608

(28)

(1,876)



(254)

(91)


(119)
2,426

287
2,414
(275)
296
6,904
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Year ended 31 December 2015

Notes

2015
£000

2014
£000

Cash flows from operating activities
Member and student income
Other income
Payments to suppliers
Payments to employees
Payments relating to taxes
Payments relating to post retirement benefits
Payments relating to charitable activities
Cash generated from operating activities

48,437
4,725
(36,552)
(15,568)
(1,936)
(2,330)
(156)
(3,380)

54,871
7,790
(37,147)
(15,921)
(1,648)
(3,212)
(110)
4,623

Taxation
Net cash arising from operating activities


(3,380)


4,623

(5,221)
(2,483)
(20)
1,709
241
(5,774)

(747)
(2,379)
(4,023)
606
228
(6,315)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

(9,154)

(1,692)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January

22,197

25,097

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets
Purchase of investments
Proceeds from disposals of investments
Investment income
Net cash used in investing activities

5
6
7,8,9c

Effect of foreign exchange rates:
Change in foreign currency translation reserve
Net exchange differences on property, plant and equipment
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December
The notes on pages 16 to 42 form part of these financial statements.

(275)
47
9b

12,815

(1,202)
(6)
22,197

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT

1 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
a

Basis of preparation
CIMA is a body incorporated by Royal Charter and domiciled in the UK. The financial statements are prepared on the
going concern basis, and under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of freehold properties
and investments, and in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the
European Union, and with the IFRS Interpretational Committee interpretations.
Leasehold properties are revalued by a qualified surveyor, on a depreciated replacement cost basis, every three years,
or more regularly should management consider that the value has changed significantly. Investments are revalued at
the balance sheet date in line with the fair value hierarchy.

Reclassification of 2014 balances
Prior year balances have been reclassified for the following accounting treatments:
A provision for the full cost of dilapidations on the Helicon office has been included in leasehold improvements
and provisions.
An investment fund has been moved from non current to current assets.
Amounts receivable from members and students have been moved from other to trade receivables.
Accrued income receivable from commercial partners has been moved from prepayments to trade receivables.
Credit card receipts in transit have disclosed separately from cash on hand and at bank.
Provisions have been removed from trade payables and accruals and disclosed separately.
The charge for bad debts in the year has been moved from income to expenditure.
There is no impact on the surplus for 2014 from these reclassifications.

b

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated group financial statements comprise the financial statements of CIMA and the wholly owned
subsidiary undertakings, charitable trusts and other funds under the control of CIMA, together with a share of the
results, assets and liabilities of jointly controlled entities (joint ventures) using the equity method of accounting,
where the investment is carried at cost plus post acquisition changes in the share of net assets of the joint venture,
less any provision for impairment.
Control is achieved where CIMA is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect these returns through its power over the investee. A joint venture is an entity established
to engage in economic activity, which CIMA jointly controls with its fellow venturers. Losses in excess of the
consolidated interest in joint ventures are not recognised, except where CIMA or its subsidiaries have made a
commitment to make good those losses, and are included in creditors where the investment is impaired.
The consolidated group financial statements comprise the statements of comprehensive income, balance sheets
and cash flow statements of CIMA and its foreign operations as detailed in Note 16.

c

Adoption of new and revised standards
The following statements are effective and relevant in the current year:
Amendment to IAS 32 on Financial instruments asset and liability offsetting (effective 1 January 2014)
Amendment to IAS 39 Financial instruments: recognition and measurement, on novation of derivatives and
hedge accounting.
The following statements are effective and not relevant in the current year:
IFRS 10 Consolidated financial statements (effective 1 January 2013, endorsed 1 January 2014)
IFRS 11 Joint arrangements (effective January 2013, endorsed 1 January 2014)
IFRS 12 Disclosure of interests in other entities (effective 1 January 2013, endorsed 1 January 2014)
IAS 27 (revised 2011) Separate financial statements (effective 1 January 2013, endorsed 1 January 2014)
IAS 28 (revised 2011) Associates and joint ventures (effective 1 January 2013, endorsed 1 January 2014)
Amendment to IFRS 10, 11 and 12 on transition guidance (effective 1 January 2013, endorsed 1 January 2014)
Amendment to IFRS 10, 12 and IAS 27 on consolidation for investment entities (effective 1 January 2014)
Amendment to IAS 36 Impairment of assets on recoverable amounts disclosures (effective 1 January 2014)
Amendment to IAS 19 Employee benefits on defined benefit plans (effective 1 July 2014, endorsed 1 February 2015)
Annual improvements 2010–2012 cycle (effective 1 July 2014, endorsed 1 February 2015)
Annual improvements 2011–2013 cycle (effective 1 July 2014, endorsed 1 January 2015)
IFRIC 21 Levies (effective 1 January 2014, endorsed 17 June 2014)
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The following statements may be relevant for future periods:
IFRS 9 Financial instruments (effective 1 January 2018)
IFRS 14 Regulatory deferral accounts (effective 1 January 2016)
IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers (effective 1 January 2018)
IFRS 16 Leases (effective 1 January 2019, or when applying IFRS 15)
Amendment to IFRS 11 Joint arrangements on acquisition of an interest in a joint operation (effective 1 January 2016)
Amendment to IAS 16 Property, plant and equipment, and IAS 38 Intangible assets, on depreciation and amortisation
(effective 1 January 2016)
Amendment to IFRS 9 Financial instruments on general hedge accounting (effective 1 January 2018)
Amendment to IAS 16 Property , plant and equipment, and IAS 41 Agriculture on bearer plans (effective 1 January 2016)
Amendment to IAS 27 Separate financial statements on equity accounting (effective 1 January 2016)
Amendment to IFRS 10 Consolidated financial statements, and IAS 28 Investments in associates and joint ventures
on sale or contribution of assets (effective date to be determined)
Amendment to IFRS 10 Consolidated financial statements, and IAS 28 Investments in associates and joint ventures
on applying the consolidation exemption (effective 1 January 2016)
Annual improvements 2014 (effective 1 January 2016)
Amendment to IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements disclosure initiative (effective 1 January 2016)
Amendment to IAS 12 Income taxes on recognition of deferred tax assets for unrealised losses
(effective 1 January 2017)
Amendment to IAS 7 Statement of cash flows (effective 1 January 2017)

d

Income recognition
The main income streams are recognised as follows:


Member and student subscriptions are recognised in the year when they fall due, where there is no significant
uncertainty as to collectability. Subscriptions and fees received in advance represent funds paid to CIMA in the
current year, but that relate to the annual fees which fall due, and are recognised as income, in the following year.



Exam fees are recognised on the date of the exam.



Exemption fees are recognised when invoiced.



Goods and services:



e

f



Courses and conferences revenue represents income earned from the combination of courses and conferences
activity and BPP Professional Education Ltd Finance and Tax operations.



Magazine sales and advertising are recognised in the month of publication.



Sponsorship income is recognised when the event occurs.



Charitable donations and income are recognised when they are received.

Financial:


Interest is accrued on a daily basis.



Dividends from investments are recognised when CIMA's right to receive payment is established.

Expenditure recognition


Expenditure related to a specific income stream is recognised in the same period as the income.



Expenditure related to a specific period of time or service is recognised in that period. Goods or services delivered,
for which the invoice has not been received, are accrued for in the accounting period in which they are delivered.



Expenditure incurred delivering the core products or services of CIMA or its ongoing functional activity for which
there is no direct revenue benefit is expensed in the accounting period in which the commitment was made.



Gift aid donations made by CIMA to the General Charitable Trust are recognised when paid.

Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to CIMA. All other leases are classified as operating leases and rental payments are charged against income
on a straight line basis over the term of the lease.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT continued

1 SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
g

Taxation
Corporation tax arises on CIMA's chargeable gains and investment income less any charitable donations by way
of gift aid. A provision is made for deferred taxation to the extent that material timing differences are expected
to reverse in future periods. No provision for deferred taxation is included in respect of surpluses on revaluation
of property and investments.

h

Investments
Investments are recognised at cost on the trade date, and are restated on the reporting date at fair value. Unrealised
gains and losses are recognised directly in fair value reserves until the investment is disposed of or is determined to
be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss, previously recognised in fair value reserves, is included in the
net surplus or deficit for the period. Income or expense arising on the translation of investments denominated in
foreign currencies is recognised as part of the deficit or surplus for the year.

i

Property, plant and equipment
Freehold land and buildings are carried at fair value, based on valuations conducted every three years, with subsequent
additions at cost. They are depreciated at 2% on a straight line basis.
Leasehold land and buildings are carried at fair value, based on valuations conducted every three years, with subsequent
additions at cost. They are depreciated on a straight line basis over the period of occupation. Leasehold improvements
are carried at cost and depreciated on a straight line basis over the period of occupation.
Other equipment, comprising IT hardware, is carried at cost and depreciated on a straight line basis at rates varying
from 20% to 50%, depending on the useful economic life of the equipment. Small items of furniture and office
equipment are expensed in the year of purchase. Cost includes attributable irrecoverable VAT.

j

Intangible assets
Intangible assets comprise computer software and trademarks; these are stated at cost. Cost includes attributable
irrecoverable VAT.
Amortisation is charged on a straight line basis over the estimated useful economic life of the software (between
two and five years) and over the duration of the trademark (approximately ten years). It is included under value
chain support services in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

k

Impairment
At each balance sheet date the carrying amounts of non current assets with finite lives are reviewed to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss.
If the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to be less than the carrying amount, the carrying amount is reduced
to the recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
unless the asset is land or buildings carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a
decrease in the fair value reserve.
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate
of the recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, unless the asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as an increase in the fair value reserve.

l

Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are stated at original invoice value less a provision for doubtful debt. The recoverability
of debt is reviewed on an ongoing basis. CIMA reviews indicators of impairment on an ongoing basis, and where such
indicators exist, make an estimate of the assets recoverable amount.

m Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are recognised at amortised cost.
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n

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, balances with banks and financial institutions, credit card receipts
cleared and in transit to CIMA, and investments in money market instruments representing short term, highly liquid
investments, which are readily convertible to known amounts of cash.

o

Retirement benefits
For defined benefit plans, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the projected credit method, with
valuations for the purposes of IAS 19 being carried out at each balance sheet date. Past service cost is recognised
immediately, to the extent that benefits are already vested, and otherwise is amortised on a straight line basis over
the average period until the amended benefits become vested.
The amount recognised in the consolidated balance sheet represents the present value of the defined benefit obligation,
reduced by the fair value of plan assets. Any asset resulting from this calculation is limited to the unrecognised actuarial
losses and past service cost, plus the present value of available funds and reductions in future contributions to the plan.
For the defined contribution scheme, the cost recognised for the period is the contribution payable in exchange for
services rendered by employees during the period.

p

Foreign currencies
Sterling is the presentational currency of CIMA. Transactions in currencies other than sterling are initially recorded at
the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. Surpluses and deficits arising on exchange are included
in the net surplus or deficit for the period. Monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the rates prevailing on the
balance sheet date, including non–UK operations. On consolidation the income and expense items of the non–UK
operations are translated at the average rates for the period. Exchange differences on the translation of the assets
and liabilities of the non–UK operations have been taken to the foreign currency translation reserve.

q

Derivatives
CIMA uses derivative financial instruments (derivatives) to hedge its exposure to foreign exchange risks arising from
operational activities. CIMA does not hold or issue derivatives for trading purposes. However, derivatives that do not
qualify for hedge accounting are accounted for as trading instruments.
Derivatives are recognised at fair value. As the financial instruments are designated as fair value through profit and
loss, the gain or loss on re–measurement to fair value is recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

r

Sources of estimation and uncertainty
The preparation of the financial statements requires CIMA to make estimates, judgements and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and related disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities. CIMA bases its estimates on historical experience and various other assumptions that they believe are
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgements about the carrying
value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from those
estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

s

Significant judgements
CIMA believes that the most significant critical judgement area in the application of its accounting policies is its
deferred benefit pension scheme assumptions which are set out in Note 13.
The other significant judgement is the level of provision for doubtful debts, as set out in Note 9a.

t

Funds
CIMA maintains a level of reserves to protect against a shortfall in income should economic or market forces cause a
significant decline in demand for its products and services for one year, or to its ability to earn a return on its invested
funds. Most investment projects are funded out of current income, however accumulated reserves may be used to
fund significant strategic projects.
Fair value reserves represent the market value of CIMA's investments and property in excess of the historic cost price.
The foreign currency translation reserve represents exchange differences arising on the translation of the assets and
liabilities of the non-UK operations. Charitable trust reserves represent the total reserves relating to the Benevolent
Fund and the Anthony Howitt Lecture Trust.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT continued

2 DETAILED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

a

b

c

2015
£000

2014
reclassified*
£000

34,681
12,484
5,119
1,877
54,161

33,798
20,753
5,495
2,278
62,324

Expenditure
Acquire
Government activity
Higher education activity
School activity
Employer activity
Gateways
Non core products
Unsolicited registration
Delayed activation
Tuition partner activity
Value chain support services
Total acquire


(2,328)
(431)
(1,158)
(614)
(429)
(602)
(57)
(155)
(4,661)
(10,435)

(33)
(2,656)
(511)
(1,308)
(245)
(342)
(377)
(37)
(64)
(5,083)
(10,656)

Deepen
Exemptions
Induction programmes
Exam delivery
Exam entry campaigns
Fee paid support
Free support
Tuition providers
Member assessments
New member campaigns
Student lapsing prevention and recovery
Deepen directorate
Lifelong learning directorate
Value chain support services
Total deepen

(363)
(100)
(5,458)
(29)
(230)
(725)
(550)
(234)
(32)
(150)
(329)
(49)
(4,652)
(12,901)

(393)
(62)
(7,843)
(58)
(243)
(672)
(460)
(296)
(4)
(206)
(338)
(71)
(5,115)
(15,761)

Income
Member and student subscriptions
Examinations and exemptions
Goods and services
Financial
Total income

* See Note 1a, Basis of preparation
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2015
£000

d

e

f

g

2014
reclassified*
£000

Retain
CPD activity
Member benefits
Member engagement
Member lapsing prevention and recovery
Value chain support services
Total retain

(714)
(1,676)
(1,556)
(104)
(4,563)
(8,613)

(661)
(1,561)
(1,621)
(217)
(4,937)
(8,997)

Fulfil
Stakeholder surveys and satisfaction
Strategic projects
Global Management Accounting Principles©
Value chain support services
Total fulfil

(80)
(1,747)
(134)
(4,561)
(6,522)

(115)
(1,905)
(346)
(4,942)
(7,308)

Reputation and research
Outputs
Governance
Profile raising activity
Relationships
Internal brand engagement
Ethical practice
Profile raising amongst employers
CGMA Innovation Agenda
Membership of regulatory bodies
Standards, regulations and compliance
Impairment of joint venture investment
Provision for share of joint venture losses
Value chain support services
Total Reputation and research

(1,656)
(1,756)
(4,943)
(85)
(302)
(226)
(566)
(230)
(1,311)
(1,628)
(14)
(36)
(4,792)
(17,545)

(1,861)
(1,699)
(5,110)
(40)
(221)
(210)
(816)
(374)
(1,204)
(1,558)
(134)
81
(5,397)
(18,543)

Total expenditure

(56,016)

(61,265)

Corporate centre relocation (see Note 3c)
Income
Expense

Operating (deficit)/surplus before charities
* See Note 1a, Basis of preparation

–
–
–
(1,855)

1,256
(551)
705
1,764

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT continued

2 DETAILED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (CONTINUED)
2015
£000

h

Charitable trusts and other funds
Benevolent Fund
Income
Expense
Anthony Howitt Lecture Trust
Income
Expense
Total charitable trusts and other funds
Total operating (deficit)/surplus

2014
reclassified*
£000

156
(174)

110
(110)

31
(41)
(28)

11

11

(1,883)

1,775

* See Note 1a, Basis of preparation

3 OPERATING (DEFICIT)/SURPLUS
a

The operating (deficit)/surplus has been arrived at after charging:
2015
£000

2014
£000

22

276

Research and development costs

586

1,145

Depreciation of owned property, plant and equipment

867

513

1,037

558

298

258

35

60

2,210

2,116

Net foreign exchange gain

Amortisation of intangible assets
Gain on disposal of investments
Gain on disposal of non current assets
Operating lease cost

In accordance with article 3(c) of the Royal Charter, no Council member was remunerated during the year, except
under byelaw 34(b) (examiners' fees). No Council member benefited personally from any contract with CIMA, and
contracts with organisations with which Council members were connected are not of a material nature. The total
reimbursement of expenses incurred by Council members on CIMA business was £1.3m (2014: £1.1m).

THE
2015
THE CHARTERED
CHARTERED INSTITUTE
INSTITUTEOF
OFMANAGEMENT
MANAGEMENTACCOUNTANTS,
ACCOUNTANTS,FINANCIAL
FINANCIALSTATEMENTS
STATEMENTS
2015

22/23

b

Fees paid to external auditors
PwC replaced Chantrey Vellacott DFK in June 2015 as principal group auditor. PwC and Chantrey Vellacott DKF
(including DFK network firms) provided all audit, assurance, tax and advisory services in the UK, and to some non
UK offices.

External audit and assurance services
PwC
UK
Non UK
Chantrey Vellacott DFK and DFK network firms
UK
Non UK
Tax and advisory services
PwC
UK
Non UK
Chantrey Vellacott DFK and DFK network firms
UK
Non UK

Total fees paid to external auditors

c

2015
£000

2014
£000

153
54





18
225

79
20
99

189





19

208

72
2
74

433

173

Corporate centre relocation
Our corporate centre office relocated to the Helicon building in central London in April 2015. To enable this relocation
the lease on the existing Chapter Street office, which was scheduled to end in September 2015, was surrendered, and
replaced by a new lease with the appropriate end date. In surrendering the original lease, CIMA received compensation
of £1,256k. In 2014 CIMA incurred £551k of non–capital expenditure in preparation for the move, resulting in a net
income of £705k.

d

Employees
Salaries and wages (including temporary staff and SMT)
National insurance
Defined contribution scheme
Defined benefit scheme

2015
£000

2014
£000

15,568
1,936
1,176
731
19,411

16,282
1,648
1,095
619
19,644

The year end number of UK based employees was 258 (2014: 254), and the number of employees outside of the UK
was 201 (2014: 200). All employees work in administrative roles.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT continued

3 OPERATING SURPLUS (CONTINUED)
e

Senior management team (SMT)
Remuneration payable to members of SMT for the year is:

Chief executive
Managing director
Chief financial and operating officer
Executive director education
Executive director external affairs
Executive director global corporate relations
Executive director governance and professional
standards
Executive director marketing
Executive director marketing and sales

Note i
Note ii

Note iii
Note iii

Salary
£000

Pension
contribution
£000

Total
2015
£000

Total
2014
£000

275
164
150
135
124


33
24
24
25
17


308
188
174
160
141


347
212
195
175

159

126

124
1,098

28

7
158

154

131
1,256

165
143
140
1,536

i Executive director external affairs is a new role from January 2015.
ii The executive director global corporate relations left in August 2014 and this ceased to be an SMT position. An exit payment is included above,
however it cannot be reported separately as it is covered by a non disclosure agreement.
iii The executive director marketing was on leave from December 2013, until leaving in August 2014. An exit payment is included above, however
it cannot be reported separately as it is covered by a non disclosure agreement.
The executive director marketing and sales acted up to cover this position from December 2013 until the appointment was made permanent in
October 2014. The remuneration of the executive director marketing and sales included here reflects the period of service from December 2013.

4 TAXATION
a

Tax (credit)/charge for the year
2015
£000

2014
£000

Current tax
Current tax payable on surplus for the year
Total current tax







Deferred tax
Charge for the year
Effect of changes in tax rates
Total deferred tax


(7)
(7)

72

72

Total tax per consolidated statement of comprehensive income

(7)

72
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b

Factors affecting the tax (credit)/charge for the year
(Deficit)/surplus on ordinary activities before tax
Tax on (deficit)/surplus on ordinary activities
at the standard UK rate of 20.25% (2014: 21.5%)
Effects of:
Net income not taxable
Capital allowances
Chargeable gains
Utilisation of tax losses
Charitable Trusts
Tax rate changes
Current tax charge for the year

2015
£000

2014
£000

(1,883)

1,775

(381)

391

339

42


(7)
(7)

(276)
(13)

(27)
(3)

72

2015
£000

2014
£000

No tax liabilities arise under the activities of the charitable trusts.

c

Deferred tax provision
Provision at the start of the year
Impact of rate change on prior year
(Credit)/charge for the year
Provision at the end of the year

72
(4)
(7)
61



72
72

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT continued

5 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Freehold land
and building
(at valuation)
£000

Leasehold
land and building
(at valuation)
£000

Leasehold
improvements
(at cost)
reclassified*
£000

Other
equipment
(at cost)
£000

Total
£000

Net book value
At 31 December 2013

989

278

443

306

2,016

Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2014
Additions
Disposals
Foreign exchange
At 31 December 2014

1,011



1,011

304



304

4,576
589
(91)
6
5,080

1,635
569
(549)
1
1,656

7,526
1,158
(640)
7
8,051

(4,133)
(380)
82
(6)
(4,437)

(1,329)
(89)
501
5
(912)

(5,510)
(513)
583
(1)
(5,441)

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2014
Charge for the year
Eliminated on disposals
Foreign exchange
At 31 December 2014

(22)
(20)


(42)

(26)
(24)


(50)

Net Book Value
At 31 December 2014

969

254

643

744

2,610

Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2015
Additions
Disposals
Revaluation
Transfer from software
Transfer to software
Foreign exchange
At 31 December 2015

1,011


13



1,024

304






304

5,080
3,304
(4,226)



(26)
4,132

1,656
1,936
(551)

62
(94)
(26)
2,983

8,051
5,240
(4,777)
13
62
(94)
(52)
8,443

(4,437)
(386)
4,177



(3)
(649)

(912)
(592)
560

(61)
89
8
(908)

(5,441)
(1,035)
4,737
136
(61)
89
5
(1,570)

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2015
Charge for the year
Eliminated on disposals
Revaluation
Transfer from software
Transfer to software
Foreign exchange
At 31 December 2015
Net book value
At 31 December 2015

(42)
(25)

62



(5)

1,019

(50)
(32)

74



(8)

296

* See Note 1a, Basis of preparation
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2,075

6,873
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Included above are assets under construction at a cost of £97k (2014: £30k). As these assets are under construction
depreciation has not started yet.
Freehold and leasehold land and buildings refer to property in Sri Lanka. Leasehold improvements include CIMA's
corporate centre offices in the Helicon building, London and also non–UK offices.
The valuation of the freehold and leasehold land and building in Sri Lanka was prepared by an independent valuation
expert on the basis of depreciated replacement cost at 30th October 2015. The valuation segregates the respective
values of the freehold and leasehold land and buildings.
On a historical cost basis the revalued freehold and leasehold land and buildings in Sri Lanka would have been included
at a cost of £670k less accumulated depreciation of £278k.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT continued

6 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Computer
software
£000

Trademarks
£000

Total
£000

Net book value
At 31 December 2013

872

893

1,765

Cost
At 1 January 2014
Additions
Disposals
At 31 December 2014

8,123
2,229
(1,137)
9,215

929
150
–
1,079

9,052
2,379
(1,137)
10,294

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2014
Charge for the year
Eliminated on disposals
At 31 December 2014
Net book value
At 31 December 2014

(7,251)
(508)
1,134
(6,625)

(36)
(50)
–
(86)

(7,287)
(558)
1,134
(6,711)

2,590

993

3,583

Cost
At 1 January 2015
Additions
Disposals
Transfer from equipment
Transfer to equipment
At 31 December 2015

9,215
2,338
(665)
94
(62)
10,920

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2015
Charge for the year
Eliminated on disposals
Transfer from equipment
Transfer to equipment
At 31 December 2015

(6,625)
(974)
665
(89)
61
(6,962)

Net book value
At 31 December 2015

3,958

1,079
145
–
–
–
1,224

(86)
(63)
–
–
–
(148)

1,076

Included above are assets under construction at a cost of £1,408k (2014: £1,821k). As these are assets under
construction, depreciation has not started yet.
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10,294
2,483
(665)
94
(62)
12,144

(6,711)
(1,037)
665
(89)
61
(7,111)

5,033

28/29

Individually material intangible assets

Customer relationship management (CRM) system
Enterprise resource planning system
Global Management Accounting Principles assessment tool
CIMA Connect

Net book
value
£000

Remaining
useful life

726
345
198
195

1–4 years
5 years
3 years
2 years

The CRM system was initially introduced in 2002 and has been added to on an annual basis. Individual elements are
depreciated over five years. The remaining useful life represents the range of assets remaining.

7 INTEREST IN OTHER INVESTMENTS
Marketable
securities
reclassified*
£000

Charitable
trusts and
other funds
£000

Total
£000

At 31 December 2013 at fair value
Historical cost

3,139
1,976

2,362
2,016

5,501
3,992

At 1 January 2014 at fair value
Additions of listed investments at cost
Disposals of listed investments at opening fair value
Unrealised gain on revaluation of listed investments
At 31 December 2014 at fair value
Historical cost

3,139
1,024
(612)
203
3,754
2,767

2,362


6
2,368
2,015

5,501
1,024
(612)
209
6,122
4,782

At 1 January 2015 at fair value
Additions of listed investments at cost
Disposals of listed investments at opening fair value
Unrealised gain on revaluation of listed investments
At 31 December 2015 at fair value
Historical cost

3,754
6
(722)
304
3,342
2,438

2,368


(91)
2,277
2,015

6,122
6
(722)
213
5,619
4,453

* See Note 1a, Basis of preparation

Marketable securities and Charitable trusts and other funds comprise units in funds managed by Schroder
and Co. Limited. These funds are revalued at the balance sheet date to market quoted prices. Investments are
classified as non current unless they are expected to be realised within one year.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT continued

7 INTEREST IN OTHER INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)
The unit funds are invested in the following asset classes
Equities
Multi asset funds
Cash

2015
£000

2014
£000

3,638
1,905
76
5,619

4,122
1,962
38
6,122

2015
£000

2014
£000

2,280
3,339
5,619

2,370
3,752
6,122

The unit funds are invested in the following currencies
Sterling
US Dollar

8 INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURE
On 1 January 2012 CIMA formed a joint venture with the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(AICPA), called the Association of International Certified Professional Accountants. On 31 January 2012 the joint
venture launched a designation – Chartered Global Management Accountant (CGMA) – which is available to all
CIMA members and AICPA members working in business. The strategic aim of the joint venture is to elevate the
profession of management accounting, by establishing CGMA as the most valued globally recognised management
accounting designation.
The joint venture is a Verein registered in Switzerland. There are five members of the Verein, three are subsidiaries of
the AICPA, two – CIMA Enterprises Limited and Global Management Accountants in Business Limited – are subsidiaries
of CIMA; through this ownership structure CIMA owns 40% of the joint venture. The joint venture is governed by a
Management Board, comprised of four persons designated by CIMA and four by the AICPA.
The Verein owns the CGMA designation, which it leases to CIMA and the AICPA. It primarily incurs costs in creating
and protecting the associated trademarks globally. The majority of other work to market and support the designation
is undertaken directly by CIMA and AICPA. As explained in the Financial Performance Review, CIMA and AICPA are
considering the creation of a new Association through which they will more closely align strategy, operations and
management. Costs associated with the Association are charged directly to the statement of comprehensive income,
and are not included in investments.
In 2015 the joint venture incurred a loss of USD42k due to the cost of registration and protection of the CGMA
designation in a number of countries, and the CIMA group invested £7k through CIMA Enterprises Limited and £7k
through Global Management Accountants in Business Limited. As at the year end, CIMA's investment in the joint
venture totalled £403k (2014: £389k). Losses in excess of the consolidated investment are fully provided for, and are
included in creditors. Investments are classified as non current unless they are expected to be realised within one year.
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Total
£000

At 31 December 2013 at fair value
Historical cost


255

At 1 January 2014 at fair value
Additional investment in joint venture at cost
Impairment of additional investment in joint venture
At 31 December 2014 at fair value
Historical cost


134
(134)

389

At 1 January 2015 at fair value
Additional investment in joint venture at cost
Impairment of additional investment in joint venture
At 31 December 2015 at fair value
Historical cost


14
(14)

403

9 CURRENT ASSETS
The Council considers that the carrying amounts of these assets is approximate to their fair values.

a

Trade and other receivables comprise:

Trade receivables
Prepayments
Other receivables

2015
£000

2014
reclassified*
£000

4,057
565
74
4,696

2,393
820
170
3,383

* See Note 1a, Basis of preparation

The average credit period taken on trade receivables is 31 days (2014: 20 days). An allowance of £333k has been made
in respect of doubtful trade receivables (2014: £964k).

b

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

Cash on hand and at bank
Credit card receipts in transit
Short term cash deposits
* See Note 1a, Basis of preparation

2015
£000

2014
reclassified*
£000

9,681
3,055
79
12,815

19,709
2,410
78
22,197

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT continued

9 CURRENT ASSETS (CONTINUED)
c

Interest in other investments
Total
£000



At 31 December 2013 at fair value
Historical cost



At 1 January 2014 at fair value
Additions of listed investments at cost
Disposals of listed investments at opening fair value
Unrealised gain on revaluation of listed investments
At 31 December 2014 at fair value
Historical cost


2,996

23
3,019
2,997

At 1 January 2015 at fair value
Additions of listed investments at cost
Disposals of listed investments at opening fair value
Unrealised gain on revaluation of listed investments
At 31 December 2015 at fair value
Historical cost

3,019

(1,000)
74
2,093
2,032

These comprise marketable securities units in a multi asset fund managed by Schroder and Co. Limited. This fund is
revalued at the balance sheet date to market quoted prices. CIMA's level of investment in the fund is managed as
part of its short term working capital planning, and as such they are classified as current assets.

10 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
The Council considers that the carrying amounts of these liabilities is approximate to their fair values.
Trade and other payables comprise:
Trade payables and accruals
Corporation tax payable
Other taxes and social security costs
* See Note 1a, Basis of preparation

THE
2015
THE CHARTERED
CHARTERED INSTITUTE
INSTITUTEOF
OFMANAGEMENT
MANAGEMENTACCOUNTANTS,
ACCOUNTANTS,FINANCIAL
FINANCIALSTATEMENTS
STATEMENTS
2015

2015
£000

2014
reclassified*
£000

4,733
66
133
4,932

5,139
72
372
5,583

32/33

11 PROVISIONS
Dilapidations
£000

Tax
£000

Other
£000

Total
£000

At 31 December 2013



250

744

994

Utilised
Released
Provided
At 31 December 2014



411
411

(85)
(15)
1,100
1,250

(328)
(200)
286
502

(413)
(215)
1,797
2,163

Utilised
Released
Provided
At 31 December 2015



28
439

(880)
(370)



(254)
(139)
240
349

(1,134)
(509)
268
788

Of the provisions held at year end £349k (2014: £1,752k) is current, and £439k (2014: £411k) is non current.

12 SUBSCRIPTIONS AND FEES RECEIVED IN ADVANCE
This primarily represents 2016 subscriptions received in 2015. They are treated as deferred income, and will be released
to the statement of comprehensive income in 2016 in line with the subscription period.

13 RETIREMENT BENEFITS
CIMA sponsors The Chartered Institute of Management Accountants Pension and Assurance Scheme (the 'Scheme'), a
funded defined benefit pension scheme in the UK. The Scheme is administered within a trust which is legally separate
from CIMA. Trustees are appointed by both CIMA and the Scheme's membership and act in the interest of the Scheme
and all relevant stakeholders, including the members and CIMA. The Trustees are also responsible for the investment
of the Scheme's assets.
This Scheme provides pensions and lump sums to members on retirement and to their dependants on death. Members
who leave service before retirement are entitled to a deferred pension. The Scheme closed to new members in 2002,
and to accrual of benefits in 2012.
The Scheme is subject to regular actuarial valuations, which are usually carried out every three years. The next
actuarial valuation is due to be carried out with an effective date of 1 April 2016. These actuarial valuations are
carried out in accordance with the requirements of the Pensions Act 2004 and so include deliberate margins for
prudence. This contrasts with these accounting disclosures, which are determined using best estimate assumptions.
The responsibility for making good any deficit within the Scheme lies with CIMA and this introduces a number of
risks for CIMA. The major risks are: interest rate risk; inflation risk; investment risk; longevity risk. CIMA and Trustees
are aware of these risks and manage them through appropriate investment and funding strategies. The Trustees
manage governance and operational risks through a number of internal control policies, including a risk register.
Following the 2012 valuation, CIMA and the Scheme agreed a plan to reduce the liability to zero over the ten years
to 2023. This is through additional contributions from CIMA and expected investment returns on the Scheme's assets.
In the current year CIMA's contributions amounted to £1,168k (2014: £1,070k). Contributions will be reviewed following
the 2016 valuation, and a new level may be agreed.
A formal actuarial valuation was carried out as at 1 April 2012. The results of that valuation have been projected to
31 December 2015 by a qualified independent actuary. The figures in the following disclosure were measured using
the Projected Unit Method.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT continued

13 RETIREMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)
a

Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet
2015
£000

Present value of Scheme liabilities
Fair value of Scheme assets
Net amount recognised at year end

(47,253)
35,814
(11,439)

2014
£000

(50,388)
36,098
(14,290)

2013
£000

(43,182)
32,346
(10,836)

All Scheme assets are valued at a quoted market price.

b

Amounts charged to the statement of comprehensive income
The current and past service costs, settlements and curtailments, together with the net interest expense for the year
are included in the employee benefits expense in the statement of comprehensive income. Remeasurements of the net
defined benefit liability are included in other comprehensive income.

Service cost:
Administration expenses
Net interest expense
Charge recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
Remeasurements of the net liability:
Return on Scheme assets (excluding amount included in interest expense)
Loss arising from changes in financial and demographic assumptions
Experience loss
Charge recorded in other comprehensive income
Total defined benefit cost
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2015
£000

2014
£000

234
497
731

152
467
619

1,427
(2,171)
(1,670)
(2,414)
(1,683)

(2,163)
6,068

3,905
4,524
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c

The principal actuarial assumptions used

Liability discount rate
Inflation assumption RPI
Inflation assumption CPI
Rate of increase in salaries
Revaluation of deferred pensions:
In service deferreds
Deferreds
Increases for pensions in payment:
Benefits accrued prior to 1 April 1997
Benefits accrued prior to 1 April 1997 to 1 April 2004
Benefits accrued after to 1 April 2004
Proportion of employees commuting pension for cash

Mortality assumption – pre retirement

Mortality assumption – male post retirement

Mortality assumption – female post retirement

Future expected lifetime of current pensioner at age 65:
Male aged 65 at year end
Female age 65 at year end
Future expected lifetime of future pensioner at age 65:
Male aged 45 at year end
Female age 45 at year end

2015
%

2014
%

3.75
3.30
2.30
n/a

3.60
3.20
2.20
n/a

3.30
2.30

3.20
2.20

3.00
3.00
3.55
3.50
3.30
3.20
All members commute
All members commute
2.25 times their pension 2.25 times their pension
at retirement
at retirement
Light SAPS S2PxA
Light SAPS S2PxA
CMI 2011
CMI 2014
(long term trend of 1.5%) (long term trend of 1.5%)
Light SAPS S2PMA
Light SAPS S2PMA
CMI 2011
CMI 2014
(long term trend of 1.5%) (long term trend of 1.5%)
Light SAPS S2PFA
Light SAPS S2PFA
CMI 2014
CMI 2011
(long term trend of 1.5%) (long term trend of 1.5%)
88.90
90.10

89.80
91.00

90.90
92.40

92.00
93.30

The choice of assumptions is the responsibility of the Council, and they are agreed with the actuary. The assumptions
chosen are the most appropriate estimates from a range of possible actuarial assumptions, which due to the timescale
covered, may not necessarily be borne out in practice.
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13 RETIREMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)
d

Reconciliation of Scheme assets and liabilities
Liabilities
£000

e

Assets
£000

Total
£000

At 31 December 2013

(43,182)

32,346

(10,836)

Interest income/(expense)
Administration expenses
Cost recognised in the statement of comprehensive income
Actuarial gains and losses arising in changes in financial assumptions
Actuarial gains and losses arising in changes in demographic assumptions
Other experience items
Return on assets (excluding amount included in net interest expense)
Remeasurement effects recognised in other comprehensive income
Contributions from CIMA
Benefits paid
Net cash
At 31 December 2014

(1,925)

(1,925)
(6,068)



(6,068)

787
787
(50,388)

1,458
(152)
1,306



2,163
2,163
1,070
(787)
283
36,098

(467)
(152)
(619)
(6,068)


2,163
(3,905)
1,070

1,070
(14,290)

Interest income/(expense)
Administration expenses
Cost recognised in the statement of comprehensive income
Actuarial gains and losses arising in changes in financial assumptions
Actuarial gains and losses arising in changes in demographic assumptions
Other experience items
Return on assets (excluding amount included in net interest expense)
Remeasurement effects recognised in other comprehensive income
Contributions from CIMA
Benefits paid
Net cash
At 31 December 2015

(1,794)

(1,794)
509
1,662
1,670

3,841

1,088
1,088
(47,253)

1,297
(234)
1,063



(1,427)
(1,427)
1,168
(1,088)
80
35,814

(497)
(234)
(731)
509
1,662
1,670
(1,427)
2,414
1,168

1,168
(11,439)

Split of the Scheme's liabilities by category of membership
Active members
Deferred pensioners
Pensions in payment
Average duration of the Scheme's liabilities at the end of the year
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2015
£000

2014
£000

10,669
21,160
15,424
47,253
21 years

10,999
23,934
15,455
50,388
22 years
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f

The major categories of Scheme assets are as follows
Return seeking:
UK Equities
Overseas Equities
Hedge Funds
Total return seeking
Debt instruments:
Corporates
Total debt instruments
Other:
Property
Cash
Total market value of assets

2015
£000

2014
£000

5,572
7,178
7,075
19,825

5,391
7,069
7,025
19,485

13,627
13,627

16,051
16,051

2,135
227
35,814


562
36,098

The Scheme has no investments in CIMA or in property occupied by CIMA.
CIMA expects to contribute £1 million to the Scheme during year ending 31 December 2016 in addition to the expenses
incurred over the year.

g

Sensitivity of the liability value to changes in the principal assumptions
If the discount rate was 0.1 % higher (lower), the Scheme liabilities would decrease by £920k (increase by £950k) if all
the other assumptions remained unchanged.
If the inflation assumption was 0.1 % higher (lower), the Scheme liabilities would increase by £600k (decrease by
£660k). In this calculation all assumptions related to the inflation assumption have been appropriately adjusted,
that is the deferred pension and pension in payment increases. The other assumptions remain unchanged.
If life expectancies were to increase (decrease) by one year, the Scheme liabilities would increase by £1,800k (decrease
by £1,700k) if all the other assumptions remained unchanged.
If members were assumed not to commute any pension for cash at retirement, the Scheme liabilities would increase
by £3,100k if all the other assumptions remained unchanged.
These sensitivities have been calculated to show the movement in the Scheme in isolation, and assuming no other
changes in market conditions at the accounting date. This is unlikely in practice, for example, a change in discount
rate is unlikely to occur without any movement in the value of the assets held by the Scheme.

h

Other retirement obligations
Provision has been made in the CIMA Sri Lanka entity for retirement gratuities in conformity with SLAS 16/Gratuity Act
No. 12 of 1983 for all employees who have completed one year of service, and is recognised as an expense in the period
during which their services are rendered in accordance with SLAS 16.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT continued

14 COMMITMENTS
a

Property rentals
At the balance sheet date, CIMA had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments, under
non cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows:
£000

Not later than one year
Later than one year, and not later than five years
Later than five years
The lease commitment for the Helicon is ten years to September 2024, with a rent review in 2019.

b

1,714
5,650
4,079

Other commitments
£000

Not later than one year
Later than one year, and not later than five years
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185
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15 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
CIMA’s principal financial instruments comprise marketable securities and charitable trusts and other funds. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations including the operations of its
controlled charities. The Group has various other financial instruments such as trade receivables, trade payables
and accruals that arise directly from its operations. At 31 December 2015 and at 31 December 2014 the Group had
no significant derivatives. Foreign currency exchange contracts are further discussed in section d below. The main
financial risks for the Group are credit risk, liquidity risk, currency risk and investment risk.

a

Risks
Credit risk
The risk on cash balances, deposits and available for sale investments is managed in a risk averse manner, being held
with UK clearing banks with a credit rating of at least A. A maximum of £5m may be invested per bank. The trade
credit risk is mainly attributable to subscription and exam fee income. There is no concentration of risk in this area,
as income is diversified over a large number of members and students.

Currency risk
CIMA operates in a number of countries, has trade commitments in a number of currencies and, therefore, has some
exposure to currency movements. Income is largely sterling denominated, whilst non–sterling expenditure accounts
for 21% of total expenditure. CIMA continues to review currency risk on a regular basis and will take action to hedge
risk as appropriate. See Note 15d for a summary of hedges in place at year end.

Investment risk
Investment income, including gains on disposals, rose by £53k from £486k to £539k. Budgets are prepared on a
prudent basis and income from investments is not relied on for CIMA's ongoing activities. Investments are reviewed on
a regular basis. A 10% increase in fair value at year end would result in a rise of £771k in the value of investments and a
corresponding rise in the fair value reserve; a decrease of 10% would result in a fall of £771k in the value of investments,
a fall of £623k in the fair value reserve, and a charge of £148k to the net income statement.

Liquidity risk
CIMA’s business model, with subscription fees falling due on 1 January and examination fees being due before exam
event commitments are made, results in working capital requirements being fully funded in advance. This results in
a high proportion of CIMA’s asset base being cash on deposit. These deposits are actively managed to ensure that
working capital requirements are met at all times. Total longer term liabilities, such as property lease commitments,
are substantially covered by strong reserves.
The total gross contractual undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities fall due as follows.

31 December 2015
Trade and other payables
Provisions

31 December 2014
Trade and other payables
Provisions

On demand
or within
1 year
£000

(4,932)
(349)
(5,281)
On demand
or within
1 year
£000

(5,583)
(1,752)
(7,335)

1-2 years
£000

2-5 years
£000









1-2 years
£000

2-5 years
£000









More than
5years
£000


(439)
(439)

More than
5years
£000


(411)
(411)

Total
£000

(4,932)
(788)
(5,720)

Total
£000

(5,583)
(2,163)
(7,746)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT continued

15 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
b

Summary of financial instruments

31 December 2015
Assets
Non current
Marketable securities
Charitable trust funds
Current
Marketable securities
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Liabilities
Current
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Non current
Provisions
Net financial assets/(liabilities)

31 December 2014
Assets
Non current
Marketable securities
Charitable trust funds
Current
Marketable securities
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Liabilities
Current
Trade and other payables
Provisions

Loans and
receivables
£000

Loans at
amortised
cost
£000

Available for
sale assets
£000

Total
£000









3,342
2,277
5,619

3,342
2,277
5,619


4,057
12,815
16,872






2,093


2,093

2,093
4,057
12,815
18,965





(4,932)
(349)
(5,281)





(4,932)
(349)
(5,281)



16,872

(439)
(439)
(5,720)



7,712

(439)
(439)
18,864

Loans and
receivables
£000

Loans at
amortised
cost
£000

Available for
sale assets
£000

Total
£000









3,754
2,368
6,122

3,754
2,368
6,122


2,393
22,197
24,590






3,019


3,019

3,019
2,393
22,197
27,609





(5,583)
(1,752)
(7,335)





(5,583)
(1,752)
(7,335)


24,590

(411)
(411)
(7,746)


9,141

(411)
(411)
25,985

Non current
Provisions
Net financial assets/(liabilities)
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c

Fair value hierarchy
Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on the quoted bid price at the
reporting date.
Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments not traded in an active market is determined using observable market
data for all significant inputs.
Level 3: The fair value of financial instruments not traded in an active market where at least one significant input
cannot be determined using observable market data; this includes an unlisted equity securities.
Available for sale financial assets are carried at fair value. Marketable securities and charitable trusts are classified
as a level 1 fair value measurement for disclosure purposes, as the fair value is determined based on quote prices
in active markets for identical assets. The carrying value of all other assets and liabilities approximates fair value.

d

Derivatives
CIMA took out foreign exchange contracts in 2015 to mitigate against potential losses on some grant expenditure to be
paid out to non–UK offices in 2016; CIMA continues to review currency requirements and exchange risk on an ongoing basis.

Value of derivatives at deal rate
Value of derivatives at year end spot rate
Interest rate differential
(Loss)/gain recognised in the statement of comprehensive income

2015
£000

2014
£000

(4,463)
4,412
31
(20)

(5,879)
6,006
(78)
49

16 RELATED PARTIES
a

The group financial statements consolidate the accounts of CIMA, its wholly owned subsidiary undertakings, and
the charitable trusts and other funds under the control of CIMA listed below. These financial statements exclude all
balances and transactions that are eliminated on consolidation. CIMA maintains branch offices in India and Pakistan,
and other representative offices in a number of countries which are not listed below as they are not material to the
group financial statements.
Name

The Chartered Institute of Management Accountants
CIMA Enterprises Limited
Global Management Accountants in Business Limited
The Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants Benevolent Fund
The Anthony Howitt Lecture trust
CIMA Australasia Limited
Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants Bangladesh branch
CIMA China Co Limited
The Chartered Institute of Management Accountants
Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants Republic of Ireland Division
CIMA SE Asia Sdn Bhd
The Chartered Institute of Management Accountants
CIMA Singapore Pte Limited
The Chartered Institute of Management Accountants NPC
The Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants Sri Lanka

Country of
incorporation

Principal
activity

UK
UK
UK
UK

CIMA
ownership

Membership of joint venture
Membership of joint venture
To provide assistance to members
and ex–members, and their
families, in times of hardship.
UK
To advance education in
accountancy and related subjects.
Australia
Membership services
Bangladesh Membership services

100%
100%
100%

China
Membership services
Hong Kong Membership services
Ireland
Membership services

100%
100%
100%

Malaysia
Dubai
Singapore
South Africa
Sri Lanka

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

Membership services
Membership services
Membership services
Membership services
Membership services

100%
100%
100%

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT continued

b

Joint ventures
As per Note 8, CIMA has formed a joint venture with the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA),
called the Association of International Certified Professional Accountants. The joint venture is a Verein registered in
Switzerland. There are five members of the Verein, three are subsidiaries of the AICPA, two – CIMA Enterprises Limited
and Global Management Accountants in Business Limited – are subsidiaries of CIMA; through this ownership structure
the CIMA owns 40% of the joint venture. The joint venture is governed by a Management Board, comprised of four
persons designated by CIMA and four by the AICPA.

c

Dormant companies
CIMA holds 100% of the 100 issued £1 ordinary shares of The Corporate Society of Financial Management Limited, 100%
of the two issued £1 ordinary shares of The Institute of Cost and Works Accountants Limited, 100% of the one issued
£1 ordinary share in CGMA Limited, and 100% of the 100 £1 issued ordinary shares of Global Professional Accountants
in Business Limited, Professional Accountants in Business Limited, Management Accountants in Business Limited, and
CIMA China Limited. All these companies were dormant in the periods covered by these financial statements.

d

General Charitable Trust
The General Charitable Trust (GCT) is a registered charity, and was formed for the advancement of education in
the subjects of accounting, management accounting, electronic data processing, costing, auditing, taxation, applied
economics, finance, and other related subjects of an educational nature.
During the year CIMA made gift aid donations of £300k (2014: £500k) to the GCT, and the American Institute
of Certified Public Accountants made donations of £126k (2014: £186k). CIMA also provided support services
with a notional value of £98k (2014: £97k). At the end of the year the net assets of the GCT were £150k
(2014: net liabilities £43k), which included £10k (2014: £12k) payable to CIMA.
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CIMA’S COUNCIL AND COMMITTEE MEMBERS

MEETINGS ATTENDED BY MEMBERS OF CIMA’S COUNCIL AND EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
January to December 2015
Electoral
Constituency

Name

Agate M
Ash P
Bainbridge Spring A P
Barnes D
Beedham R
Bellis–Jones, R #
Benton S nc #
Boffey A
Bragg K
Callander J D
Chan K K C
Clackworthy S
Davies N +
Davison N
Eow K H
Fenton P ##
Fitzgerald L
Malcolm Furber pp #
Graham J //
Green J
Hans A
Hoof S M *
Hurst S
Jackson N
Kanaka M
Karkaria P
Kelly K nc +
Luck K F ipp
Mack D
Macnab A +
Madden M p
Makepeace G
Marshall S

11
11
1
4
6
1
co
6
3
7
15
12
2
5
16
12
co
6
4
1
4
co
co
14
co
co
co
7
3
co

Council

6/6
6/6
6/6
6/6
6/6
1/1
1/1
6/6
5/6
1/1
4/6
6/6
4/5
6/6
6/6
0/3
4/6
1/1
2/2
6/6
5/5
1/1
3/6
6/6
3/6
6/6
6/6
4/6
6/6
4/5
6/6
2/6
6/6

Executive

6/6

2/2

5/6

6/6

Electoral
Constituency

Name

McCue S
McGunnigle A +
McMasters K nc +
Melancon B nc
Miskin A dp
Morrison J nc #
M Muchhala
Newbury K
Ng Seow Kong #
Okanta– Ofori K +
O’Connor T
Panditharatne C
Parker H
Parsons S B
Ratnayake A
Richardson E
Robertson I
Sharp R
Stahlin P nc
Stanford D vp
Stapleford S
Swientozielskyj S
Tarr D
Taylor A
Taylor L
Theagarajah R
Tidd R #
Tilley C B s
Wayment S
Weston J D
Whitehead H
Wilson R I #
Zheng J +

Council

Executive

6/6

co
1
6
co
4
9
19
17
2
18
2
co
11
co
6
3
co
10
7
12
co
3

6/6
5/5
2/5
3/5
6/6
1/1
5/6
6/6
0/1
4/5
6/6
6/6
6/6
6/6
6/6
6/6
5/6
6/6
5/6
6/6
6/6
6/6
6/6
6/6
6/6
3/6
1/1

11
5
5
2
co

6/6
6/6
6/6
1/1
4/5

8
3
co
co

5/6

2/2
6/6
2/2
4/4

5/6
6/6
6/6

4/4

5/6

KEY
p
dp
vp
pp
ipp
co
nc

President
Deputy President
Vice President
Past President
Immediate Past President
Co–opted
Non–CIMA Member

*
s
+
#
##
//
S

Non Council Member
Staff
Appointment effective from AGM 2015
Left Council/or Executive Committee at AGM 2015
Left Council/or Executive in August 2015
Appointment effective from September 2015
CIMA Staff Member

CIMA’S COUNCIL AND COMMITTEE MEMBERS continued

HONORARY OFFICERS
President
Deputy President
Vice President
Immediate Past

CIMA ELECTORAL CONSTITUENCY
Myriam Madden
Andrew Miskin
David Stanford
Keith Luck

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18

Central London & North Thames
South West England & South Wales
East Midlands & East Anglia
West Midlands
North East England
North West England & North Wales
Scotland
Northern Ireland
Republic of Ireland
West Central & Southern Africa
Central Southern England
South East England
South Asia
North Asia
South East Asia
Europe, North Africa & Middle East
The Americas
Australasia

CIMA’S GOVERNANCE COMMITTEES
Executive Committee
Chairman
Myriam Madden p
Andrew Miskin dp

Appointments Committee
Chairman
Keith Luck ipp
Malcolm Furber * pp

David Stanford vp
Keith Luck ipp
Derek Barnes
Sharon McCue
Amal Ratnayake
Steve Swientozielskyj
Louise Taylor
Nick Jackson
Chandana Panditharatne
Paul Stahlin nc
Charles Tilley *
Gail Stirling s

Myriam Madden p
Andrew Miskin dp
David Stanford vp
Melanie Kanaka
Dave Mack
Elaine Richardson

Secretary

Secretary

Vacancy
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Audit and Risk Process Committee
Chairman
Gordon Grant * pp
Vice
George Glass * pp
Chairman
Jason Boxer *
Ian Kleinman *
Tom O’Connor *
Vacancy
Vacancy

Secretary

Vacancy
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CIMA’S POLICY COMMITTEES
Global Markets Committee
Chairman
Amal Ratnayake
Vice
Mike Agate
Chairman
Paul Ash
Kenneth Chan
Nic Davison
Michael Eow
Chandrin Ferando *
Atanas Jelev *
Phillie Karkaria
Hillary Parker
Alistair Taylor
Mahes Wickramasinghe *
Mirella Zhang *
Secretary
John Windle s

Technical Committee
Chairman
Louise Taylor
Vice
Howard Whitehead
Chairman
Charles Batchelor *
Anthony Boateng *
Stuart Chaplin *
Alasdair Macnab
Sheena Mathers *
Kwasi Okanta–Ofori
Jeremy Osborn *
Richard Sharp

Lifelong Learning Committee
Chairman
Sharon McCue
Vice
Prof Lin Fitzgerald
Chairman
Patrick Barr *
Jim Callander *
Stephanie Clackworthy
John Green
Trevor Hassall *
Niall Hennessy *
Graeme Makepeace
Sue Parsons
Elaine Richardson
Tim Stewart *
Debbie Tarr
Vacancy
Secretary
Dr Noel Tagoe s

Members’ Services Committee
Chairman
Derek Barnes
Vice
Bob Beedham
Chairman
Olorunnisola Abiodun *
Alixe Bainbridge Spring
Tony Boffey
Rachel Cook *
Amarjeet Hans
Andrew McGunnigle
Mustafa Muchhala
Y Mohd Ramzi *
Rajendra Theagarajah
John Weston

Secretary
Support

Secretary

Tony Manwaring s
Gillian Lees s

Fiona Harvey s

Professional Standards Committee
Chairman
Steve Swientozielskyj
Vice
Karen Newbury
Chairman
Anna Corry *
Nigel Davies
Peter Fullam *
Nigel Iyer *
Enda Magennis *
Ian Robertson
Sue Stapleford
Duncan Swift *
Stuart Wayment
Peter Fullam *
Secretary

Gail Stirling s

CIMA’S COUNCIL AND COMMITTEE MEMBERS continued

SENIOR MANAGEMENT TEAM
Chief Executive

Charles Tilley s

Managing Directors

Andrew Harding s

Chief Financial and Operating Officer

John Windle s

Executive Director
Education

Dr Noel Tagoe s

Executive Director
Marketing and Sales

Fiona Harvey s

Executive Director
Governance and Professional Standards

Gail Stirling s

Executive Director
External Affairs

Tony Manwaring s

OTHER COMMITTEES, BOARDS AND TRUSTS
Benevolent Fund Committee
Chairman
John Weston
Vice
Paul Ash
Chairman
Frank Guilfoyle *
Sue Hoof *
Dave Mack
Andrew Oxley *
Robert I Wilson (Bob) *
Secretary
Caroline Aldred s

CIMA Enterprises Ltd
Director
Charles Tilley s
and Chief
Executive
Director
Andrew Harding s
Director

General Charitable Trust
Chairman
Glynn Lowth * pp
Vice
Rod Hill * pp
Chairman
Bob Beedham
Ivan Court *
Rod Hill *
Francesca Windsor *

Anthony Howitt Lecture Trust
Chairman
Myriam Madden p
Andrew Miskin dp

Secretary

Secretary

Robert Spencer s

Global Management
Accountants in Business Ltd
Director
CIMA (Corporate Body)

Director

Andrew Harding s

CIMA (Corporate Body)
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David Stanford vp
Keith Luck ipp

John Windle s

Association of
International Certified
Professional Accountants
Chairman
Kenneth Kelly nc

Deputy
Chairman

Keith Luck ipp
Mark Lewis *
Myriam Madden p
Kris McMasters nc
Barry Melancon nc
Paul Stahlin nc
Charles Tilley s
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INDEPENDENTLY APPOINTED CONDUCT COMMITTEES
Investigation Committee
Chairman
Lesley Ward nc *
Vice
Caroline Byram nc *
Chairman
John Anderson nc *
Keith Brims *
John Cottam *
Chris Matthews–Maxwell nc *
Collette Neville nc *
Diana Reid nc *
David Robbins *
John Thornton *
Hywel Tudor *

Staff support

Joanna Low s

Disciplinary Committee
Chairman
James Kellock nc *
Vice
Stuart Hill nc *
Chairman
Bryn Anstice nc *
Sarah Baalham nc *
Geoffrey Baines nc *
Lynette Barlow *
Susan Gallone *
Huw Jones *
Michael Jordan *
Paul Pharaoh nc *
Iain Richardson *
Martin Sambrook *
Sarah Senior *
Carolyn Tetlow nc *
Stephen Thacker nc *
Staff support
Joanna Low s

Appeal Committee
Chairman
Karen Rea nc *
Vice
Michael Reddy nc *
Chairman
Peter Cadman nc *
Malcolm Cornberg *
Daniel Farrow *
Jules Griffiths nc *
Paul Roberts *

Staff support

Rosemary Carroll s

CIMA’S COUNCIL AND COMMITTEE MEMBERS continued

CIMA REPRESENTATIVES ON EXTERNAL BOARDS AND COMMITTEES
Board or committee
CCAB Ireland (CCABI)
Member
Chairman

Deputy Chairman
International Federation
of Accountants (IFAC)
CIMA Representative
International Ethics Standards
Board for Accountants (IESBA)
Professional Accountants
in Business Committee
Chairman
Member
Professional Accountancy
Body Development Committee

Council of The Association of
Accounting Technicians (AAT)
2nd out of 3 years (1st term)
1st out of 3 years (1st term)
2nd out of 3 years (3rd term)

CIMA representative

Frank Nolan *
Sheila Lewis *
Tony Manning *
Sean Shine *

Myriam Madden p
Claire Ighodaro pp*

Charles Tilley s
Stuart Chaplin *
Devika Mohotti *

Linda Kumbemba *
Kevin Bragg
Reg Wood *

Board or committee
American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (AICPA)

CIMA representative
Myriam Madden p

Fédération des Experts Comptables Européens (FEE)
Representative to
Myriam Madden p
General Assembly
Charles Tilley s
Accounting Working Party
Members’ Assembly
Tony Manwaring s
ESG (Environmental, Social and
Governance) Reporting task force
Corporate Reporting
Policy Group
Technical Adviser
Company Law and Corporate
Governance Working Party
Professional Ethics and
Competencies Working Party
Anti–Money Laundering Working
Party Technical Adviser
Financial Reporting
Policy Group
SME/SMP Forum
CIMA representative
Public Sector Group

Nick Topazio s
Nick Topazio *
Nick Topazio s
Gillian Lees s
Gail Sterling s
Catherine Blackmore s
Nick Topazio s
Ray Baxter *
Rebecca McCaffry s

OTHER SENIOR APPOINTMENTS HELD BY CIMA MEMBERS/REPRESENTATIVES
UK FRC Reporting
Lab Steering Group

Charles Tilley s

HM Revenue and Customs Joint VAT
Consultative Committee

Richard Sharp

International Integrated
Reporting Council

Charles Tilley s

Prince of Wales Accounting
for Sustainability Project

Charles Tilley s

PWC Building Trust Awards
Judging Panel

Charles Tilley s

University Courts
University of Bath
University of Lancaster
Loughborough University
University of Surrey
University of Cranfield
University of Stirling Conference
University of Cardiff
City University, London
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Elaine Richardson
David Stanford vp
Glynn Lowth * pp
Mike Agate
Mike Jeans * pp
Jim Callander
Nigel Davies
Gulzari Lal Babber * pp
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